WHY IS OUR VILLAGE NAMED AFTER ST.FAITH

The story begins in the year of our Lord 303 at the town of Agen in south-west France. Agen is sited on the river Garonne which flows through Bordeaux, joins the Dordogne to become the Gironde, and flows out in to the Bay of Biscay.

There was in Agen, a twelve year old girl called Fides, or Foy in the French and we will call her Faith in English. Her father was a Roman member of the administration, and her mother was local Gallic.

At this time, the Roman Empire was divided in two, for administration, with Diocletian Emperor in the East at Byzantium and Maximien Emperor in the West at Rome. The Roman empire was very liberal and tolerant about religion. You could worship whichever gods you chose and Mithras was very popular with the legions. However, what the Romans couldn’t get their heads around (as we say today) was a god who was invisible. If you couldn’t se it, they didn’t think it existed and hence they called the Christians “atheists”. Since Christianity largely appealed to women and slaves, they feared it was undermining the whole authority of the Roman state. So they decided to have a purge.

Maximien issued an edict setting up a population census of religious adherence. When this reached Agen, young Faith responded “My name is Faith and I am a Christian”. Despite the blandishments, bribes and threats from her Roman father (for whom this was an acute embarrassment) she flatly refused to be put down as a supporter of any other god. Pro-Consul Dacien therefore decided she must be executed. The sixteenth century Aubusson Tapestries at Conques depict the story. First there are the Romans energetically blowing on the fire to get a good blaze, nearby is Faith strapped to a hurdle. Over all hangs a big black cloud. Through the cloud dives a white dove, cleaving the cloud apart and releasing a deluge of water, which puts the fire out. So is Faith saved from burning. But the next day they take her out and behead her. Meanwhile, Bishop Caprais and his little flock of Christians, who have been watching from the hills, where they had taken refuge, come down and own up to being Christians. They were then beheaded as well. Then, so the story goes, several of the soldiers said that they were Christians as well. They couldn’t be beheaded, as this was not a fitting way for a Roman soldier to die, so one imagines that they were stabbed.

Only ten years later Christianity was declared acceptable in the Roman Empire. In 348 a church was built at Agen, which housed the bones of St.Faith and many miracles happened there. Now we must take a big leap forward in time to A.D.778 when one Datus or Daton or Dadon (according to which version you read and in which language) called in one case a brutal warrior (perhaps a bit unjustly?) grew sickened of slaughtering Saracens (also called Moors, who spread throughout North Africa, occupied Spain and were invading France). With a few companions, he withdrew to an isolated place in the mountains. There they adopted the rule of Benedict and built themselves a little wooden church. They called the place Conques. I would like to think that Daton was with Roland at Roncesvalles but haven’t a shred of evidence for this, only the coincidence of the dates.

Over the next few decades, this community of Conques became very well known. King Louis the Pious became a patron. Pepin, King of Aquitaine gave them a grand and costly reliquary. Even the great Charlemagne (crowned in 800 A.D. by the pope as Holy Roam Emperor) visited them and gave them a fragment of the True Cross. Why should such a great personage visit such a remote place in the mountains in France? Well, wasn’t Roland his nephew? Now our story moves forward again, about 50 years or so, to the year 866. There are at least two versions of what happened then. We know that between 860 and 867 the Vikings (Normans) raided up the river Garonne and plundered the town of Agen. We also know that for ten years there had been in the community of Agen a young monk, called Aronside, who came originally from the community of Conques. Being fearful for the safety of the Holy Relics, he took the bones of St.Faith, put them in a sack and carried them to the safety of Conques. One version says that the wicked monks of Conques, being desirous of more prestigious relics to boost the growing fame of their community, sent Aronside to Agen to steal the bones. However there is no record of the monks at Agen making any protest, either then or later. So the monks of Conques built a grand basilica to house the bones of St.Faith and many were the miracles that took place there.

At this time in Northern Europe, men’s minds turned to the life after death (a subject which had occupied minds in Egypt more than a thousand years previously). Two ways of collecting Brownie points to get a better deal in the hereafter were to give property to the Holy Church or to go on a pilgrimage. The Abbey of Conques certainly received many rich gifts and was situated on the pilgrimage road to St.James of Compostela, one of the most popular shrines at that time. So the fame of the miracles of St.Faith spread North and South. Now, as every school boy knows, in 1066 William the Bastard, Duke of Normandy invaded England. Haold Godwinson, King of England, was a most unfortunate man. Only four days earlier he had defeated the famous Viking King Harold Hardrada, known from Greenland to Constantinople, at the battle of Stamford Bridge. So he should have gone down in history as a famous king instead of the silly man who got and arrow in his eye at the battle of Hastings.
William of Normandy now became king of England and rewarded his supporters with gifts of land taken from the Saxons. It is said he gave his armourer the villages of Horse Ford and Horse Ham in the County of Norfolk. The he built a motte and bailey castle, the remains of which could be seen on the Horsford side of the A140 until fairly recently. In 1106 his grandson Robert Fitzwilliam and his wife, Sybilla, went on a pilgrimage, probably to St.James of Compostela. In the mountains of southern France they were set upon by robbers, who took their valuables and held them locked up, perhaps for ransom. One version said they prayed to St.Faith whose abbey was not so far away and she released them. Another says they miraculously escaped and, on reaching the nearby Abbey, asked of the abbot to whom his church was dedicated. On being told St.Faith, they promised to set up a daughter house to be dedicated to her when they got home to Norfolk. When they left Conques they took with them two monks called Bernard and Girard who established the Priory of St.Faith in Horsham. (It is said they twice tried to build it at Horsford, but it fell down and they moved to Horsham). In one of the mural paintings in the Priory you can see the two monks from Conques, with their wheel barrow, being supervised by Sybilla in the building process. So the village became known as Horsham St.Faith. 

Back in Conques, Odolric, who was Abbot from 1031 to 1065, had a great vision to build a magnificent church to replace the old basilica which housed the bones of St.Faith. he drew up plans and started building but it wasn’t until the great Abbe Begon III took up the task, that the church was erected in a huge building effort between 1087 and 1107. (This was at the same time that Herbert de Losinga was building Norwich Cathedral). In 1100 Pope Pascal II sent some important holy relics, including another fragment of the True Cross, to recognise the huge effort in building this great church in such a remote mountain village with a population much fewer than Horsham St.Faith.

Begon III also established a workshop with goldsmiths, silversmiths and other skilled metal workers, tanners and enamellers. They made a reliquary to contain the holy relics from Pope Pascal III, a reliquary coffer, to house the bones of St.Faith, a great processional Cross containing, amongst other things, another fragment of the True Cross and in one of the niches of the octagonal knot, St.James the Major, dressed as a pilgrim with his scallop shells, his staff, his scrip and his bottle. This workshop which became famous far and wide also made a reliquary arm of St.George (not our saint bit a monk of Conques who became Bishop of Lodere before AD 880), the Lantern fro the Dead (a present from Abbe III) a statue of virgin and child (seated), and two portable altars for Begon and his successors. They made the famous “A” reliquary of Charlemagne and created a lovely silver statue of St.Faith holding in her right hand the grill and sword, and in her left hand, the palm of her martyrdom.
Many more works of art were created by the craftsmen of the Conques atelier and all are presided over by a most imposing seated statue known as the Majesty of Saint Foy. First made around AD940 the head is said to be that of a Roman Emperor and contains the top of St.Faith’s head. It is covered in plaques of gold and silver and encrusted with all manner of precious stones. Some of the work appears to be Byzantine, (note the heads of Lady Mary and Saint Fides on Begon’s portable altar are wearing the Byzantine triangular halos). 31 antique antaglios are Greek, Roman, Egyptian and Byzantine. One piece is Persian work around 200BC. On the back of the throne is an engraved Carlongian crystal representing the crucifixion.

In the centuries that followed, this Holy Treasure had a precarious existence. During the Hundred Years War the villagers hid the Treasure under the floor of the church to protect it from thieving English soldiers. When the Huguenots set fire to the church during the Religious Wars, the villagers took it and hid it in the walnut drying sheds in nearby mountains. When it was threatened with destruction during the Revolution the villagers buried it. Unfortunately everyone  who knew where it was buried died ! It was therefore, to everyone’s amazement that Prosper Merimee, being the Minister of Works, while digging in the ruins of the old basilica came upon the Holy Treasure in 1837. This same Prosper Merimee who wrote “Carmen” on which Bizet based his opera.

Since 1837 the guardianship of the Treasure has been in the care of the Norbertine Fathers of the Abbey of St.Michael de Frigolet, which is near Tarascon. In 1954 the French Government equipped a special room for its security and appropriate display.

So it was to this great Abbey church that Robert and Sybilla came in 1106. If they entered it by the West door they would have passed under the great tympanum representing Christ in Judgement. The Saints and goodies, led by the Lady Mary and Saint Faith are on his right hand and the baddies and the Evil Ones in a melee on his left. At his feet Michael and the Devil are having a real punch-up, whilst at the bottom, a devil with hair standing on end and a broad leer on his face is swinging an enormous club at the goodies opposite who look most apprehensive. Meanwhile further to the right the Devil and his minions are doing all sorts of unspeakable things to those who have fallen into error. In a remote niche St.Faith is kneeling before the outstretched hand of God.
It was from here that out two Benedictine monks, Bernard and Girard, accompanied Robert and Sybilla to their home in Norfolk and built the Priory in the village which came to be known as Horsham St.Faith.
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